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BENICIA, CRADLE OF THE DOMINICAN ORDER IN CALIFORNIA 

 

Benicia was only seven years old when Father Francis Vilarrasa brought his Santo Domingo 

community from Monterey on March 16, 1854. In the preceding year, the little city on Carquinez 

Strait had been selected as the State Capital. Benicia was the Port of Entry and it was here that 

the Pacific Mail Steamship Company had built immense docks, shops and foundries. 
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Benicia on the Carquinez Straight  
 



¢ƘŜ ƘŀǊōƻǊ ŎƻǳƭŘ ŀŎŎƻƳƳƻŘŀǘŜ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǊƎŜǎǘ ǾŜǎǎŜƭǎ ŀŦƭƻŀǘΦ /ƭƛǇǇŜǊ ǎƘƛǇǎ ŦǊƻƳ ΨǊƻǳƴŘ ǘhe Horn 

were in port, their seams bulging with cargoes of staples and fancy dry goods, stationery, books, 

crockery, hardware, furniture, Havana cigars, German clay pipes, casks of whisky and various 

other items. The local merchants carried large stocks on hand for the pioneer buyers who came 

from throughout Napa, Solano and Contra Costa Counties. 

 

Benicia was easily reached by boat from San Francisco, Sacramento and Stockton and overland 

by stage, and in 1853, was considered a city of great possibilities because of its ideal location. 

Several brick and frame buildings were scattered in the vicinity of First Street. Benicia was 

predominantly an English speaking community instead of a Spanish one like the other California 

coastal cities. 

 

The Dominican priest and his young seminarians on that certain day one hundred and twenty-

five years ago, were the first religious community to settle in Benicia. The church property which 

had been assigned to them by Archbishop Joseph Alemany, consisted of an entire city block at 

East I and J between Fourth and Fifth Streets. 

 

Previous to their arrival, a small frame church not completely finished had been built by Father 

Hugh Gallagher on the corner of East 4th ŀƴŘ L {ǘǊŜŜǘǎΦ Lƴ ǘƘƛǎ ǎƳŀƭƭ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ ƻƴ {ŀƛƴǘ tŀǘǊƛŎƪΩǎ 5ŀȅΣ 

1854, Father Vilarrasa sang a solemn High Mass which was well attended. In those early times, 

to light their way to and from church, the people carried lanterns at night. 

 

Father Vilarrasa, Superior of the Congregation, enjoyed writing letters describing events about 

the early days of the Order in California; thus, much of the history has been preserved that would 

otherwise have been lost. The cordial feeling between the Dominicans and the Franciscans was 

expressed in the following letter to the Very Reverend Father José Jimeno in Santa Bárbara: 

 

October 25, 1854 

Very Reverend Father: 

I was looking for a suitable opportunity to write you with security against having the letter go 

astray, which offers itself to me through Don Pablo de la Guerra. It is superfluous to express the 

satisfaction we have at seeing the Apostolic College established and the novitiate formally 

opened . . . The only regret we feel is that the said Apostolic College is located at so great a 

distance from Benicia; for we had wished that it might be nearer in order that we might more 

frequently find an occasion to manifest our mutual affection and fraternal concord. However, 

as it is not possible we shall seize the opportunities that offer themselves for the purpose of 

preserving, and if possible, of strengthening our union. 

 

The account which Your Reverence sent us was read in the refectory, and on the Sunday 

immediately following its reception a Te Deum was sung after Vespers, in order to give thanks 

to God for the beginning of a work so conformable to our desires. 

 



The feast of Saint Francis, October fourth, was celebrated with the same solemnity as that of 

our Father S. Dominic. After the Solemn High Mass, at which our Sisters were also present with 

all their pupils, Father Augustine Langlois made his solemn profession. 

 

      Q.S.M.B. 

      (signed) Fr. Sadoc Vilarrasa,  O.P. 
 

 
 

The early years in Benicia were difficult because of the heavy debt that was on the church 

property when Father Vilarrasa arrived and the Fathers had no income and had to rely almost 

entirely upon the generosity of the local Catholics. 

 

The austere conditions in the new community did not prevent volunteers from offering their 

services. In 1856, four priests arrived: Fathers Caldwell, Daniel, Derham and Dugan. In Saint 

5ƻƳƛƴƛŎΩǎ /ƘǳǊŎƘ ƻƴ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ мфΣ муртΣ .ǊƻǘƘŜǊǎ ±ƛƴŎŜƴǘ ±ƛƴȅŜǎ ŀƴŘ 5ƻƳƛƴƛŎ /ƻǎǘŀ ǿŜǊŜ ǘƘŜ 

first priests of the Order ordained in California. In that same year Father James Aerden, a native 

of Belgium, arrived. He spoke five languages and had the reputation of being a mechanical genius. 

One of his projects was the construction of a private telegraph and telephone system which he 

personally operated at a later date between the church and the railway station. He was also an 

accomplished musician and often composed music for the church. 

 

The Pacific Mail Steamship Company gave the Fathers a bell that hung in a tower separate from 

the church. Its fine tone could be heard at a great distance, especially in the early morning hours 

when its melodious sound was the signal for the Dominican household to arise. John Heenan, the 

ŦŀƳƻǳǎ ōƻȄŜǊΣ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ǘƘŜ ά.ŜƴƛŎƛŀ .ƻȅΣέ ƘǳƴƎ ǘƘŜ ōŜƭƭΤ ōŜŦƻǊŜ Ƙƛǎ ŦƛƎƘǘƛƴƎ ŎŀǊŜŜǊ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ 

blacksmith at the Steamship Company. 

 



 
 

The Fathers and the Brothers were on friendly terms with the military men at Benicia Barracks 

and the Arsenal. The army cooks taught the Dominicans how to bake bread. 

 

A huge black iron safe that was still in the Monastery building before it was demolished was the 

one in which Father Vilarassa kept the money entrusted to his care by the parishioners in those 

early days. 

 

Lƴ ǘƘŜ ȅŀǊŘ ŀǘ {ŀƛƴǘ 5ƻƳƛƴƛŎΩǎ ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ŀƴ ƻǊŀƴƎŜ ǘǊŜŜΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ŜŀǊƭȅ .ŜƴƛŎƛŀ ǇǊƛŜǎǘǎΣ 

grew from the seedling of a tree planted by Saint Dominic at Santa Sabina, Rome more than seven 

hundred years ago. There is a tradition that wherever the tree grows the Dominican Order will 

flourish. 

 

With some financial help from the Archbishop, a small house was built and through the kindness 

of the parishioners the church was finished. Since the Spanish language was not used in Benicia 

as it was in Monterey, Santo Domingo became Saint Dominic. One June 18, 1854, Archbishop 

Alemany blessed the church and christened it after the funder of the Dominican Order. 

 

Father Vilarrasa and the Brothers had been in Benicia only five months when Mother Mary and 

her community of Santa Catalina arrived from Monterey. The beautiful schooner EDA under 


